

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer (Review)

Ahmed N, Ahmedzai S, Vora V, Harrison S, Paz S

Ahmed N, Ahmedzai S, Vora V, Harrison S, Paz S. Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2004, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD003445. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003445.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	3
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	6
DISCUSSION	8
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	10
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	10
REFERENCES	11
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	12
ADDITIONAL TABLES	17
APPENDICES	21
WHAT'S NEW	23
HISTORY	23
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	24
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	24
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	24
INDEX TERMS	24



[Intervention Review]

Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer

Nisar Ahmed¹, Sam Ahmedzai¹, Vandana Vora², Sophie Harrison³, Silvia Paz⁴

¹Academic Unit of Supportive Care, School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK. ²Medicine and Clinical Governance, St Luke's Hospice and Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Sheffield, UK. ³Wythenshawe Hospital, University Hospital South Manchester, Manchester, UK. ⁴WHO Collaborating Centre for Public Health Palliative Care Programme, Institut Catalá d'Oncologia, Barcelona, Spain

Contact address: Nisar Ahmed, Academic Unit of Supportive Care, School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University of Sheffield, Sykes House, Little Common Lane, Sheffield, South Yorkshire, S11 9NE, UK. n.ahmed@sheffield.ac.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Pain, Palliative and Supportive Care Group. Publication status and date: Stable (no update expected for reasons given in 'What's new'), published in Issue 1, 2010.

Citation: Ahmed N, Ahmedzai S, Vora V, Harrison S, Paz S. Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2004, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD003445. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003445.pub2.

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

This review is an update of a previously published update review in The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (Issue 4, 2006) on this topic. No new studies have been identified from the update search and the conclusions are not altered. Supportive care has traditionally been given to optimise the comfort of patients and their ability to function, as well as to minimise the side-effects of anti-cancer treatments. However, the scope of modern comprehensive supportive care is broadening and covers not only specific palliative treatment but nontumour specific treatment such as social, psychological and spiritual support. In oncology, best supportive care (BSC) has been used as a comparator arm of randomised controlled trials in chemotherapy. However, the BSC arm is usually not well defined and its evaluation is therefore difficult because of the heterogeneity of the definitions. A systematic review was undertaken of the evidence from all RCTs of gastrointestinal cancers (includes gastrointestinal/gastric, colorectal/colon cancer but excludes pancreatic cancer trials) which include a BSC/SC arm.

Objectives

1. To examine effectiveness/outcomes of best supportive care interventions versus cancer therapies for gastrointestinal cancer trials;

2. To determine whether trials containing best supportive care include a definition of this.

Search methods

Electronic databases, grey literature sources, citation searching and reference checking, handsearches of journals and discussion with experts were used to identify potentially eligible trials from both published and unpublished sources up to July 2009.

Selection criteria

RCTs comparing BSC/SC versus anticancer therapies in patients with gastrointestinal cancers.

Data collection and analysis

Four RCTs were found and reviewed. Because of the heterogeneity of studies, a meta-analysis was not attempted. Data were extracted from the included studies and the quality of each was assessed.

Main results

Data from four studies (483 participants) were included. Due to the heterogeneity of studies (in terms of populations studied, the interventions used, the variety of outcomes and assessments used) it was not possible to make direct comparisons between the studies.

Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer (Review) Copyright ${\small ©}$ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



The primary outcome in all four trials was survival, in spite of patients with advanced/metastatic gastrointestinal cancer having a poor prognosis, and the interventions being primarily palliative.

Authors' conclusions

Overall the results show that for most of the studies included in this review, certain forms of chemotherapy plus supportive care improve both survival and quality of life in patients with gastrointestinal cancer (gastric and colorectal cancers) compared to receiving supportive care alone. Trials involving BSC/SC in patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer require careful evaluation. Oncologists and researchers alike should strive for improvements in trial design and reporting. Future trials should focus on clearer definitions of supportive care. The EORTC definition of supportive care can be used as a guide. BSC/SC trials should use standardised validated outcome measures for symptom control, quality of life, toxicity and other useful palliative measures.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer

Certain forms of chemotherapy plus supportive care improve both survival and quality of life in patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancers compared to supportive care alone. Gastrointestinal cancer is the second most common form of cancer and is associated with a high mortality. There is some consistent evidence that patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer benefit in both survival and quality of life by a combination of chemotherapy plus supportive care compared to receiving supportive care alone.



BACKGROUND

This review is an update of the same previously published update review in The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (Issue 4, 2006) on 'Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer'. It has been estimated that of the 50 million annual deaths worldwide, about 10% are due to cancer. The International Agency for Research on Cancer estimated that in 1996 more than seven million people died of cancer. Most were cancers of the lung (1.16 million) and stomach (0.85 million) (Ahmedzai 2000; WHO 1998). Gastrointestinal tumours including colorectal cancers are one of the commonest causes of cancer deaths in Western countries. Only a small number of patients present in an early stage of disease and the treatment of advanced gastrointestinal tumours is far from satisfactory (Cascinu 1995; Cunningham 1998).

Since 1988 there has been an increasing use of the terms 'Best Supportive Care' or 'Supportive Care' as a comparative arm of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) in cancer therapy (Cullen 2001). The term was first used by the authors of the National Cancer Institute of Canada in a three-arm trial which involved a control arm comparing two chemotherapy regimens with no chemotherapy in advanced non-small cell lung cancer (Rapp 1988). In oncology research, anticancer treatment arms are typically well defined and tightly prescribed. However, the best supportive care arm is usually not well defined and therefore may be left open to local interpretation, which questions the validity of these trials. In practice the term BSC/SC implies standard non-interventional care in the same cancer services.

Oncology services are becoming increasingly standardised across Europe (Ahmedzai 2001), however, supportive care and palliative care are relatively new clinical developments which may vary significantly between countries. This lack of definition and non-uniformity of best supportive care undermines the scientific basis of Randomised Controlled Trials (RCTs). Furthermore, it is also probably unfair to best supportive care as a therapeutic option, which could be as effective for symptom palliation as the oncological intervention in a number of trials, at least in some centres and countries (Ahmedzai 2001).

There are several issues that contribute to the uncertainty regarding best supportive care which need to be addressed. What is meant by 'support'; why 'best'; what is it better than; who is supposed to give the support? In the past supportive care for cancer has tended to focus on anti-emetics, antibiotics and anti-fungals, growth factors, etc. These are indeed 'supportive' in the sense that these interventions are not designed to cure the underlying cancer, but they are mostly addressing the toxicities of anti-cancer therapies.

Ideally supportive care should be aimed at supporting the patient and, where appropriate, the patient's family and carers. The cause of the problems which face the people with cancer may not be their prime concern. What matters is whether their problems can be dealt with, so that anti-cancer therapy can be pursued as far as possible, and that palliative treatments can also be made available whenever they are needed. These are reasonable requests from cancer patients but, at least in the context of clinical trials, how can these interventions under the heading of 'supportive care' be described and defined? To clarify what is meant by best supportive care, it is helpful to consider whether the purposes of supportive care are:

- 1. to give more intensive and effective anti-cancer therapy?
- 2. to improve quality of life for patients with cancer?

If the primary purpose of best supportive care is (1), then at least the measures which should be made available must be defined, listed in protocols. Some means should be identified to ensure that patients receive these supportive care interventions, and that they are recorded in the case report forms. Otherwise it will not be clear, for example, if the reduction in emesis associated with a chemotherapy regimen is due to a smaller inherent emetic potential of the drugs, or because some of the centres were using better anti-emetic regimens. Documentation about supportive care interventions should be done to the same high standard as the other variables collected in clinical trials e.g. Good Clinical Practice guidelines (Ahmedzai 2001).

If the aims of best supportive care include (2), then it is crucial that a broader view is taken of what comprises 'support', and, furthermore, this aim could clearly have implications for the care of cancer patients outside of clinical trials. Consequently, it is regarded as unduly narrow to think of supportive care in the context of cancer clinical trials without considering the overall picture of cancer services delivery and the provision of palliative care services.

OBJECTIVES

This was a re-visit of the literature and the original objectives were to systematically review the evidence from all RCTs of gastrointestinal and colorectal cancers (excluding pancreatic and other cancers of the biliary tract) which include a BSC/SC arm in order to:

- examine the effectiveness/outcomes of best supportive care interventions versus cancer therapies for gastrointestinal cancer trials;
- determine whether trials containing best supportive care include a definition of this.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

To be considered for inclusion, clinical studies had to be RCTs of interventions for gastrointestinal cancer which have a BSC/SC arm. Trials which included both gastrointestinal and pancreatic/ biliary cancer patients were included, however, data from the gastrointestinal cancer patients only was undertaken. Studies also had to include at least one of the following outcome parameters: symptom control, pain relief, or quality of life. Trials reporting data from patients with pancreatic and biliary cancers only were excluded.

Types of participants

Patients of 18 years and over who were diagnosed with and treated for cancer of the stomach, gastrointestinal/gastric, or colorectal/ colon cancer in any health care setting (in the community; hospital; nursing homes or chronic care institutions; outpatients).

Types of interventions

The types of interventions included in the review were: 1) chemotherapy (any type of chemotherapy for any duration); radiotherapy; surgery; and 2) BSC/SC. The EORTC definition of supportive care was used as a 'gold standard' for the inclusion of studies. However other trials which do not meet this 'gold standard' were also included provided they met the other inclusion criteria stated. These were separated in the sub-group analysis and the results compared.

Types of outcome measures

All patient outcomes were considered and reflected the outcomes that are most important for patients. However, outcomes may be different if patients are having 'curative' treatment rather than palliation of symptoms. For patients who are terminally ill, quality of life, symptom control and pain relief are of primary concern, whilst those who are undergoing curative treatment, tumour response, improvement and adverse effects are of primary concern. We focused on the following outcomes:

- symptom control,
- pain severity and pain relief,
- quality of life,
- any reported adverse side effects,
- hospitalisation due to adverse effects,
- length of improvement,
- length of survival,
- disease progression.

Validated methods for measuring pain relief

Three general types of pain measurement scales have proven to be useful in a variety of clinical and research settings: categorical scales; visual analogue scales (VAS); and numeric scales (Osoba 1991). Data were collected for pain outcomes assessed using any of these scales.

Validated methods for measuring quality of life

The most widely used, standardised, validated methods of measuring quality of life are: the EORTC Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30) (Aaronson 1993); the Quality-of-Life Index (QLI); the Functional Living Index-Cancer (FLIC), the Rotterdam Symptom Checklist (RSCL), and the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT). Quality of life measures using any of these scales and other published scales were accepted (Staquet 1998). By restricting the number of quality of life and symptom scales it is possible to make valid comparisons between the studies on subjective outcomes.

Search methods for identification of studies

The literature search aimed to identify all high quality studies of randomised controlled trials relating to supportive care for gastrointestinal cancer. Search strategies included the terms: (best) supportive care, gastrointestinal neoplasms, pancreatic neoplasms, etc. Please see Appendix 1 for MEDLINE search strategy and also Appendix 2 for additional search strategies. Studies reporting data from pancreatic cancer patients were excluded. However, mixed populations were included if separate data was available for the other types of cancers, or when the authors Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

provide these data. No restrictions were placed in the search strategy regarding the years or languages of papers.

The following sources were searched:

Electronic databases

The following electronic databases were searched using the search terms listed above:

- 1. MEDLINE (OVID BIOMED 1966 to 2002 and subsequent searches ran in 2006 and July 2009)
- 2. EMBASE (SilverPlatter WebSPIRS 1980 to 2002 and subsequent searches ran in 2006 and July 2009)
- 3. CDSR (The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 2, 2001 with subsequent searches ran in Issue 3, 2006 and Issue 3, 2009)
- 4. CCTR (The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 2, 2001 with subsequent searches ran in Issue 3, 2006 and Issue 3, 2009)
- 5. Best Evidence (1991 to 2001)
- 6. DARE (The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 2, 2001 with subsequent searches ran in Issue 3, 2006 and Issue 3, 2009).
- 7. NEED (The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 2, 2001 with subsequent searches ran in Issue 3, 2006 and Issue 3, 2009)
- 8. HTA (The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 2, 2001 with subsequent searches ran in Issue 3, 2006 and Issue 3, 2009).
- 9. CINAHL (1982 to 2001 with subsequent searches run in 2006 and July 2009)
- 10.HealthSTAR (1975 to 2001)
- 11. Citation Indexes (Science and Social Science 1981 to 2001)
- 12.CancerLIT (1966 to 2001)
- 13.Oncolink (1994 to 2001)
- 14.PsycINFO (1967 to 2001, with subsequent searches in 2006 and July 2009)

'Grey' literature sources

'Grey' literature sources (e.g., HMIC, SIGLE, Index to Theses, Dissertation Abstracts) and current research and trials registers (e.g., the National Research Register) were also searched. In addition, key Internet sites in the field were identified via a search using Copernic, a meta-search engine that allows several Internet search engines to be searched simultaneously.

Citation searching and reference checking

Citation searches of included studies were undertaken using the SCI and SSCI citation search facility, and the reference lists of relevant articles were reviewed.

Handsearching

The contents pages of key journals in the field were scanned by The Cochrane Collaboration's hand searchers in an attempt to pick up articles not already indexed on the electronic databases, and/ or entered into the Cochrane Controlled Trials Register (CCTR). The following five high impact journals were handsearched:

1. Annals of Oncology (1999 to 2001);

Copyright @ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



- British Journal of Cancer (Vol 84 No. 7 at http:// www.idealibrary.com/links/toc/bjoc);
- 3. European Journal of Cancer (1997 to 2001);
- 4. Supportive Care in Cancer (2001);
- 5. Cancer Reviews (1998 to 2001).

Contacting experts in the field

Relevant professional and research organisations were contacted to identify any additional published or unpublished research of relevance.

Data collection and analysis

Methods used to collect data from included studies

A total of 1980 citations were identified from the initial searches. Three review authors initially screened all 1980 citations for relevance. Citations/abstracts that appeared to refer to an RCT were assessed by two review authors to identify all relevant papers. Full text copies were then requested. Trials which were identified after mutual agreement were included in the review. Each review author extracted the data separately and then compared and resolved any differences by consensus. A third review author was employed for unresolved differences. All studies which appeared initially to meet the set inclusion criteria, but on closer examination failed to, were detailed in the 'Table of Excluded Studies'. We also wrote to authors/ institutions in an attempt to obtain missing information.

Methodological quality of included studies

Studies that have been published in duplicate were included only once. Abstracts were not included. The authors of relevant abstracts were contacted in order to determine if a full paper version of the study was available. Two readers, one with research review experience and the second medically qualified, read the selected articles and assessed the quality of the trials independently. Quality assessment was undertaken using the two methods described below.

Method 1

Each study was assessed using the Oxford Quality Scale with a zero to five point scale described by Jadad 1996 and colleagues and summarised as follows:

- 1. was the study described as randomised (1 = yes; 0 = no)?;
- 2. was the study described as double-blind (1 = yes; 0 = no)?;
- was there a description of withdrawals and dropouts (1 = yes; 0 = no)?;
- was the method of randomisation well described and appropriate (1 = yes; 0 = no)?;
- was the method of double-blinding well described and appropriate (1 = yes; 0 = no)?;
- 6. deduct one point if methods for randomisation/blinding were inappropriate.

Scoring system: maximum score = 5; minimum score = 0.

Studies were excluded if they failed to meet criterion (1).

Method 2

We used previously published criteria on the quality of palliative trials (Rinck 1997), 'Criteria to assess the quality of randomised clinical trials in comprehensive palliative cancer care'.

a) Quality criteria accrual of the study population

- Are all potential cases identified?
- Are eligibility criteria relevant?
- Is patient refusal rate < 10%?

b) Homogeneity and patient characteristics

- Is health status an inclusion criterion?
- Is disease stage an inclusion criterion?
- Is type of cancer an inclusion criterion?
- Are baseline characteristics described?

c) Randomisation

- Is randomisation procedure described?
- Is randomisation procedure correct?

d) Attrition and sample size

- Is attrition <10%?
- Is the sample size >100, or is statistical power reasonable?
- Is the power analysis calculated correctly?

e) Interventions

- Is the contrast between the interventions well defined?
- Are the interventions executed according to these definitions?
- Is contamination ruled out?

f) Outcome measurement

- Are relevant outcome variables assessed?
- Are possible confounders assessed?
- Is timing of the follow-up accurate?
- Are validated outcome instruments used?

g) Presentation of results

- Is the presentation of results clear?
- Can the results be derived from the reported data?

Scoring system: score one point if criteria for each section (a) to (g) are fully applied; score 0.5 point if criteria are not fully applied; score zero if criteria are (mostly) not applied. NR = Not Reported; maximum score = 7; minimum score = 0.

Statistical considerations

All data were extracted to a standard data extraction form. Unfortunately, there were insufficient studies that used comparable outcome measures and because of the heterogeneity between the studies, meta-analysis was deemed inappropriate. A narrative synthesis was attempted.

Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



RESULTS

Description of studies

This is an update of the review and no new studies were found beyond those already searched on the initial review and the 2006 update.

Fourteen studies were identified which appeared to fit the inclusion criteria. On closer examination only seven were found to be randomised trials. Of these seven, only four had outcomes that were considered relevant and were therefore included in the review (see 'Characteristics of included studies' table). Ten studies were excluded from this review, and the reasons for exclusion have been listed in the 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table.

All four included studies examined the impact of chemotherapy plus supportive care versus supportive care alone on patients with advanced/metastatic gastrointestinal cancer.

Chemotherapy treatments for the four studies were:

- octreotide (Cascinu 1995);
- irinotecan (Cunningham 1998);
- ELF regimen which consisted of 5-FU and leucovorin and etoposide or FLv regimen which consisted of 5-FU and leucovorin (elderly patients with a poor performance status) (Glimelius 1997); and
- combination chemotherapy consisting of 5-FU, leucovorin, and cisplatin (Scheithauer 1993).

The four studies included the following groups of patients:

- advanced gastrointestinal cancer patients (includes both stomach and colorectal cancer patients) refractory to chemotherapy (Cascinu 1995) (107 participants);
- metastatic colorectal cancer patients which had progressed within six months of treatment with fluorouracil (Cunningham 1998) (279 participants);
- advanced gastric cancer patients that were surgically noncurable (Glimelius 1997) (61 participants);
- previously untreated locally recurrent/metastatic colorectal cancer patients that were inoperable (Scheithauer 1993) (36 participants).

We did not find any studies comparing supportive care with either radiotherapy or surgery.

Overall, three studies examined the effect of chemotherapy on advanced/metastatic colorectal cancer patients (Cascinu 1995; Cunningham 1998; Scheithauer 1993) and two studies examined the impact of chemotherapy on advanced stomach/gastric cancer patients (Cascinu 1995; and Glimelius 1997 respectively).

All four studies had two-way comparisons. Two studies used the term best supportive care (Cascinu 1995; Glimelius 1997), and two studies used the term supportive care to define the comparative arm of the study (Cunningham 1998; Scheithauer 1993).

A total of 483 participants were randomised in these trials; all four studies involved participants with advanced stages of the illness. Scheithauer 1993 conducted the trial with least number of

participants (n = 36), and Cunningham 1998 conducted the trial with the most number of patrticipants (n = 279).

Trials were published between 1993 (Scheithauer 1993) and 1998 (Cunningham 1998). The four studies were published in the following high quality journals; British Journal of Cancer (Cascinu 1995), the Lancet (Cunningham 1998), Annals of Oncology (Glimelius 1997), and the British Medical Journal (Scheithauer 1993). The trial duration ranged from thirteen months (Cunningham 1998) to four years (Glimelius 1997).

The four studies were conducted in the following countries: Italy (Cascinu 1995), United Kingdom (Cunningham 1998), Sweden (Glimelius 1997), and Austria (Scheithauer 1993).

It is clear that these studies are heterogeneous in terms of their aims, the dose regimens compared, the supportive care definitions, patients' ages, gender ratio, the performance status of participants recruited, and the way in which the outcomes were assessed and reported.

Main outcomes assessed

All four trials, as previously identified in the original review, reported survival as a primary outcome variable. Therefore no new studies were found which impacted on the original outcome of this systematic review.

Risk of bias in included studies

See additional Table 1 and Table 2 showing the application of the Oxford Quality Scale score (Jadad 1996) and the Rinck 1997 scale.

All four trials were described as randomised; however, the concealment of allocation was described in only one study (Cascinu 1995). Since questions two and five of the Oxford Quality scale (Jadad 1996) referred to double blinding and whether the method of double blinding was appropriate, both of these questions were deemed inappropriate for the assessment of cancer clinical trials, therefore each trial could only score a maximum of three.

- Oxford Quality Scale scores were as follows; two (Glimelius 1997); three (Cascinu 1995; Cunningham 1998; Scheithauer 1993).
- The Rinck Scores (maximum score of seven) were as follows; 4.5 (Scheithauer 1993), 5.0 (Cunningham 1998; Glimelius 1997) and 5.5 (Cascinu 1995).

Effects of interventions

No new studies were found when running the update search for this review, however, the results presented and identified in the original review are as follows:

Supportive care definitions:

See Additional Table 3.

The supportive care definitions used in these four trials were heterogeneous. Despite the differences in supportive care definitions used, there were some similarities.

All four trials reported the use of analgesics as part of the supportive care package offered. Two trials reported the use of antibiotics to control infections as part of supportive care (Cascinu 1995;

Cunningham 1998). Only one trial reported the use of psychological support as part of the supportive care available (Scheithauer 1993).

Reported Characteristics:

See Additional Table 4.

All four studies reported baseline characteristics and inclusion criteria. Only two studies reported the exclusion criteria (Cunningham 1998; Glimelius 1997). No study reported ethics committee approval for the study. All four studies reported adverse effects, and had a description of withdrawals and dropouts. The power calculation was reported in only two studies (Cascinu 1995; Cunningham 1998). Quality of life was reported in three of four studies (Cunningham 1998; Glimelius 1997; Scheithauer 1993). The EORTC QLQ-C30 questionnaire was used to assess quality of life in only two studies (Cunningham 1998; Glimelius 1997; Scheithauer 1993). One study assessed quality of life using Functional Living Index for Cancer (FLIC) (Scheithauer 1993). Analysis was performed according to intention-to-treat analysis in all four studies.

Length of survival

See 'Characteristics of included studies' table.

(a) Advanced colorectal and stomach cancer patients refractory to chemotherapy: octreotide therapy (patients could receive supportive care) versus BSC alone (Cascinu 1995).

Patients treated with octreotide had a significant advantage in the duration of survival. The median survival time with octreotide therapy was 20 weeks versus 11 weeks in the BSC arm (P < 0.0001). This advantage was also present considering the survival data for each tumour group. There was a statistically significant difference between the survival curves comparing patients with colorectal cancer treated with octreotide or not. Mantel Cox (log-rank, P = 0.001). There was a statistically significant difference between the two survival curves comparing patients with stomach cancer who were and were not treated with octreotide. Mantel-Cox (log-rank) (P = 0.003).

(b) Metastatic colorectal cancer patients which had progressed within six months of treatment with fluorouracil: irinotecan plus supportive versus supportive care alone (Cunningham 1998).

The overall survival was significantly better in the irinotecan group plus supportive care versus supportive care alone group, with a median one year survival of 9.2 months (36.2%) versus 6.5 months (13.8%) respectively, (P = 0.0001). The probability of survival was 2.6 times greater in the irinotecan plus supportive care group than the supportive care alone group.

(c) Metastatic colorectal cancer patients, previously untreated patients with histologically confirmed measurable colorectal cancer that was recurrent or metastatic: combination chemotherapy consisting of 5-FU, leucovorin and cisplatin plus supportive care versus no chemotherapy (supportive care alone) (Scheithauer 1993). The overall survival was significantly longer in patients treated with combination chemotherapy versus no chemotherapy (supportive care alone) (11.0 months versus five months respectively, P = 0.006).

(d) Advanced stomach cancer (surgically non-curable): chemotherapy (ELF/FLv regimen) plus BSC versus BSC alone (Glimelius 1997).

The overall survival was not significantly longer in the chemotherapy group versus BSC group (median eight months

versus five months), however, after corrections for imbalances in pretreatment characteristics, chemotherapy treatment was associated with a statistically significant survival benefit (P = 0.003).

Quality of life

a) Advanced colorectal and stomach cancer patients refractory to chemotherapy: octreotide therapy (patients could receive supportive care) versus BSC alone (Cascinu 1995).

This trial did not include a quality of life measurement; however, study authors did advocate the use of such an assessment in future trials in order to determine the impact of octreotide treatment in terms of not only survival but also patients quality of life.

b) Metastatic colorectal cancer patients which had progressed within six months of treatment with fluorouracil: irinotecan plus supportive care versus supportive care alone (Cunningham 1998). Treatment with irinotecan plus supportive care resulted in a significantly better quality of life than treatment with supportive care alone (except diarrhoea score). Time to definitive quality of life deterioration was significantly longer in the irinotecan plus supportive care group (all P values < 0.002).

c) Metastatic colorectal cancer patients, previously untreated patients with histologically confirmed measurable colorectal cancer that was recurrent or metastatic: combination chemotherapy consisting of 5-FU, leucovorin and cisplatin plus supportive care versus no chemotherapy/supportive care alone (Scheithauer 1993). There appeared to be no significant difference between the two groups in global/subgroup quality of life scores.

d) Advanced stomach cancer (surgically non-curable): chemotherapy (ELF/FLv regimen) plus BSC versus BSC alone (Glimelius 1997).

More patients in the chemotherapy (ELF/FLv regimen) plus BSC group versus BSC alone group had a significantly prolonged high quality of life for a minimum period of four months (14/31, 45% versus T2 6/30, 20% respectively, P < 0.05).

See also additional Table 5 for other outcomes assessed.

Symptom control

Symptom control was briefly described in all four trials. In Cascinu 1995 there was no subgroup analysis for symptom control. Glimelius 1997 was the only trial to describe the symptom-free period or improved symptomatology in the absence of severe toxicity. In this trial the physician considered 17 (55%) of patients treated with chemotherapy (ELF regimen consisting of 5FU, leucovorin, and etoposide plus supportive care) to have had a prolonged symptom-free period or improved symptomatology in the absence of severe toxicity.

Pain severity and pain relief

Cascinu 1995 was the only trial to describe pain-free survival, however, there was no sub-group analysis. Scheithauer 1993 did not report on pain severity and pain relief. The trials had no detailed descriptions of pain relief, or of access to pain specialists.

Reported adverse effects, withdrawals and dropouts, and hospitalisation due to adverse effects

All four trials reported adverse/side effects, as well as the withdrawals and drop outs. As expected chemotherapy regimens



Informed decisions. Better health.

resulted in more adverse effects than the supportive care alone groups. Only two trials reported hospitalisation as a result of adverse/side effects (Cascinu 1995; Cunningham 1998).

Disease progression

There was a difference in the reporting of disease progression in the four trials, with some studies reporting stable disease (Cascinu 1995; Scheithauer 1993), and some reporting on median time to disease progression (Glimelius 1997; Scheithauer 1993). In each case all differences were statistically significant and in favour of the chemotherapy plus supportive care groups for either stable disease or median time to progression (all P values < 0.005).

A comparison of the components of the EORTC definition of supportive care with those reported in the trials

Components of supportive care were characterised as being essential or important. Each trial was assessed according to whether or not a particular component of supportive care was acknowledged and reported. Most of the components of the EORTC definition of supportive care were neither acknowledged nor reported in any of the trials. The definitions of BSC/SC used by the authors were vague. The EORTC detailed definition of supportive care, and indeed the elements of supportive care were developed in 2001, and all the trials reviewed were published in 1998 or prior to this date.

DISCUSSION

The aims of this review were to examine the outcomes of surgery, radiotherapy or chemotherapy, or both, compared with supportive care in patients with gastrointestinal cancer. This updated review does not provide additional information on this treatment as no new relevant studies were included. Seven studies were found that compared chemotherapy plus supportive care with supportive care alone. However, only four of the seven RCTs of gastrointestinal cancers had outcomes that were considered relevant and were subsequently included in this review. Only two of these trials had recruited more than 100 patients (Cascinu 1995; Cunningham 1998). The heterogeneity of the studies in terms of patient population, interventions and control groups considered, meant that it was not feasible to undertake a meta-analysis. We found no trials comparing surgery or radiotherapy (or combination of surgery and radiotherapy) with supportive care. No trial conducted in a language other than English was identified. The four trials were published in high quality journals and were published between 1993 and 1998.

The results of the trial conducted by Cascinu 1995 suggests that octreotide therapy seems to confer a survival benefit in advanced gastrointestinal cancer patients (advanced stomach, gastric and colorectal cancer patients) refractory to chemotherapy. However, the authors of this study suggest the need to conduct further studies to confirm these results. In addition to this, since quality of life assessment was not included in this study, the authors have suggested that future studies should aim to determine the impact of octreotide treatment in terms of not only survival but also patients' quality of life. This was the only study to describe the concealment of allocation in detail.

The trial conducted by Cunningham 1998 recommends the use of irinotecan as the standard second line therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer for whom fluorouracil has failed as a new

reference for forthcoming trials. Patients treated with irinotecan plus supportive care had a longer survival, fewer tumour-related symptoms and better quality of life than patients treated with supportive care alone.

The trial conducted by Glimelius 1997 suggests chemotherapy (ELF/ FLv regimen) plus best supportive care enhances both the length and quality of life in advanced gastric cancer patients. However, the authors do not advocate the routine use of this treatment as the number of patients who benefit from it is still rather limited, and therefore recommend that it should be considered for a selective group of patients.

The trial conducted by Scheithauer 1993 suggests that combination chemotherapy (5-FU, leucovorin, and cisplatin) plus supportive care enhances both survival and quality of life in symptomatic patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. As this study had the smallest number of patients (n = 36), the results should be interpreted with caution.

Overall the results show that for most of the trials included in this review, certain forms of chemotherapy plus supportive care improve both survival, quality of life and the median time to disease progression in patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancers (stomach, gastric and colorectal cancers). The benefits of chemotherapy must however be weighed against treatment toxicity and the effect on quality of life, yet most of these trials had survival as a primary outcome measure, with both toxicity and quality of life as outcomes of secondary importance. Toxicity was well documented in all four trials, as were adverse effects of treatment and withdrawals and dropouts. Apart from the use of analgesics in the supportive care arm for pain relief in the four studies, there was no detailed description of pain severity and pain relief in two trials (Cascinu 1995 and Scheithauer 1993). Furthermore, there did not seem to be much emphasis on symptom control in the four studies which was only briefly described.

The EORTC QLQ-C30 questionnaire is the world's leading cancer quality of life questionnaire (Garratt 2002). It was used in only two of the four trials (Cunningham 1998; Glimelius 1997) to assess the quality of life. One trial used a modified version of the FLIC to assess quality of life (Scheithauer 1993), and one trial did not include a quality of life assessment (Cascinu 1995). The variety of assessments used in the four studies over varying periods makes it extremely difficult to make any direct comparisons.

Older patients over the age of 75 years were underrepresented in all four of the trials, all imposed an upper age limit for recruitment of subjects, yet colorectal cancer predominantly affects older people and over half of the deaths occur in people over the age of 75 (Silverberg 1990). However, such insidious ageism has been challenged by policy directives aimed at providing care 'regardless of age, on the basis of clinical need alone' (Department of Health 2001).

The overall quality of the studies as described by the Jadad and Rinck scales was good. The Oxford Quality scale is more appropriate to conventional RCTs of medical interventions, while the Rinck criteria are more detailed and focus on the broader aspects of trials in comprehensive palliative cancer care. All four trials had a good description of baseline characteristics, inclusion criteria, adverse/side effects, description of withdrawals and dropouts and



analysis was performed according to intention to treat. There were, however, some short-

comings with regards to fulfilling robust methodology, e.g. the detailed description of the method of randomization was poorly described in at least three of four studies (Cunningham 1998, Glimelius 1997; Scheithauer 1993). We recommend that future trials are designed and reported in accordance with the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials statement (CONSORT statement). This statement was developed in the mid 1990s to improve the quality of reporting of RCTs, and comprises a checklist and flow diagram for reporting an RCT. The CONSORT statement was revised in May 2000 (Moher 2001). The revised CONSORT statement includes a 22-item checklist and a flow diagram, and its aim is to help researchers improve the quality of results of simple two-group parallel RCTs covering all aspects from introduction, methods, results to discussion, with the ultimate aim of improving trial design and reporting.

Definition of supportive care in cancer

A coordinated European activity funded by the European Community and facilitated by the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Pain & Symptom Control Task Force, has led to the agreement of the following definition for supportive care in cancer treatment:

"Supportive care for cancer patients is the multi professional attention to the individual's overall physical, psychosocial, spiritual and cultural needs, and should be available at all stages of the illness, for patients of all ages, and regardless of the current intention of any anti-cancer treatment" (Ahmedzai 2001).

The philosophy of seeing the patient as a whole person is an acknowledgement that the effects of disease in any part of the individual's being will impact on all other areas of the self. Therefore, to offer effective supportive care the multi-professional team must assess the person holistically, and manage care in a way which allows for the inter-connectedness of the problems to be acknowledged, with team members liaising to provide care which optimises quality of life.

Physical care focuses on the impact of the primary, and often secondary, disease on the patient's activities of daily living. Levels of pain and other distressing symptoms are assessed, with a multidisciplinary care plan designed to offer combinations of pharmacological and non-pharmacological management, alongside information and explanation.

Psychosocial care focuses on understanding the emotional state of the patient, and what impact the illness has made on their functioning as a person within the family or other relationship. By necessity, a thorough assessment of this care involves all those affected by the person's illness, since roles, responsibilities, relationships and financial matters may act as triggers to intensify and exacerbate other symptomatology.

Spiritual care relates to understanding personal belief systems, including religion, which may support or distress the patient and those close to him/her through the disease process. These are often deeply personal areas for patients and have proved difficult to assess. However, an understanding of the spiritual being of a person can enable discussion and therapeutic work, together with the presence and practice of a chaplain (or faith leader). These

aspects of supportive care are particularly relevant in palliative care and bereavement counseling (Wright 2004).

The assessment of cultural needs by the multidisciplinary team should ensure that care and support does not deny the patient any aspect of their regular cultural life. Cultural needs range from the provision of a suitable diet, to the intervention of an interpreter for those who cannot communicate freely in the team's language, and to the planning of cultural aspects of death, dying and funeral procedures which will be of importance to both the patient and family (Osoba 1991).

The EORTC definition is one of the first rigorous consensual attempts to encapsulate this difficult concept, and no doubt the definition will need to be updated as the subject develops and countries become more familiar and experienced with its implications. The EORTC definition of supportive care is not the same as usual care. The starting assumption is that supportive care is better than usual care. Furthermore, it is not suggested that supportive care should not be available to other treatment groups. In fact it is ethical to ensure that supportive care should be available to all other treatment groups, and active intervention to specific groups.

As well as the new definition for supportive care, the coordinated activity of the EORTC has identified several key elements and characteristics that are regarded as essential or important for implementation, particularly within the context of clinical trials. These are summarised in Appendices A and B, respectively of the report by Ahmedzai 2001.

All four trials had a description of supportive care; however, the descriptions were often vague and heterogenous, thus making direct comparisons almost impossible. In addition, most of the components of the EORTC definition of supportive care were not discussed in any of the trials. Although supportive care issues have not been considered in detail previously, any future studies addressing supportive care issues should use the EORTC definition of supportive care as a checklist thus standardizing the use of supportive care across all studies, and authors need to document the components of supportive care in more detail. The EORTC definition of supportive care should be used as a guide by those designing trials with supportive care, as some of the elements described may not be applicable to clinical trials. The EORTC definition will no doubt need to be updated as the subject develops and countries around the world become more familiar with its implications. It must however be stressed that, because the EORTC definition of supportive care was developed in 2001, it would be unrealistic and unfair to expect all of the identified trials which were conducted prior to this date to be without some methodological shortcomings with regards to both defining and reporting of supportive care trials. The use of the term 'best supportive care' which seems to imply that it is better than usual care when there is no evidence of this, should be replaced with just supportive care.

Gastrointestinal cancers are collectively the most common malignancies in the world with colorectal cancer accounting for most of these malignancies (Ahlgren 2001). Patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancers (particularly inoperable gastrointestinal cancer) are reported to have a poor prognosis, with life prolonging options being somewhat limited. A major aim in this group of patients should be symptom control and maintaining or improving their quality of life. All four trials reported survival as a primary

outcome variable. As these patients were in advanced stages of the illness, and in the context of palliative treatment, survival may be less of importance than the measurement of symptom control and quality of life. Therefore future trials should focus on these issues in addition to survival.

In summary, there is some consistent evidence that patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer benefit in both survival and quality of life by a combination of chemotherapy plus supportive care compared to receiving supportive care alone.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Since the last version of this review no new studies were found and therefore the conclusions remain the same. Patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer may benefit in both survival and quality of life by a combination of chemotherapy and supportive care. In addition, this work could be used to evaluate the usefulness of the EORTC definition of supportive care, and may have important consequences for the organisation of cancer services as a whole.

Implications for research

Since the last version of this review no new studies were found and therefore the conclusions remain the same. Further studies are still needed to clarify the effect of chemotherapy plus supportive care versus supportive care alone in gastrointestinal cancer patients using standardized validated instruments that examine symptom control, quality of life, toxicity, pain severity and pain relief in addition to survival and other palliative measures both prior to and after treatment completion. Furthermore, future studies should not impose upper age limits at trial entry. As this does not reflect the age distribution of the disease. Until this is achieved it is extremely difficult to make any direct comparisons between the studies. The challenge for the future is to strive for major improvements in trial design and reporting of results.

In summary, we recommend that the evidence base for this area could be further improved by the following measures:

- 1. better ways of appraising quality of supportive care trials;
- 2. improved criteria for including supportive care interventions into cancer RCTs, such as those put forward by the EORTC;
- 3. more large studies using standardised quality of life scales such as the EORTC QLQ-C30.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The advisory group assisted in identifying any additional supportive care papers at the very early stages of the project. The review authors gratefully acknowledge the help and advice of the Advisory Group, as follows:

- 1. Professor David Machin, Director of Clinical Trials Research Unit (CTRU), Institute of General and Primary Care, ScHARR, The University of Sheffield, UK.
- 2. Dr David Girling, Senior Scientist, Clinical Trials Unit, MRC, London, UK.
- 3. Andrew Booth, Head of Information Resources, ScHARR, The University of Sheffield, UK.
- 4. Professor David Clark, Professor of Medical Sociology, Institute for Health Research, The University of Lancaster, UK.
- 5. Professor Sheila Payne, Professor of Palliative Care, Palliative and End of Life Care Research Group, The University of Sheffield, UK.
- 6. Dr Heather Anderson, Consultant in Medical Oncology, Christie Hospital, Wilmslow, Withington, Manchester, UK.
- 7. Dr Richard Stevens, Cancer Division, MRC, Clinical Trials Research Unit, Cambridge, UK.

Catherine Beverley (Information Officer, School of Health and Related Research, University of Sheffield) kindly assisted the review authors in planning and undertaking electronic searching for the first publication of this review. Sylvia Bickley kindly re-ran the search for the update of this review in 2006 and Caroline Sturthers re-ran it in July 2009.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Cascinu 1995 {published data only}

Cascinu S, Ferro Del E, Catalano G. A randomised trial of octreotide vs best supportive care only in advanced gastrointestinal cancer patients refractory to chemotherapy. *British Journal of Cancer* 1995;**71**:97-101.

Cunningham 1998 {published data only}

Cunningham D, Pyrhonen S, James RD, Punt CJA, Hickish TF, Heikkila R, et al. Randomised trial of irinotecan plus supportive care versus supportive care alone after fluorouracil failure for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *The Lancet* 1998;**352**:1413-8.

Glimelius 1997 {published data only}

Glimelius B, Ekstrom K, Hoffman K, Graf W, Sjoden PO, Haglund U, et al. Randomised comparison between chemotherapy plus best supportive care with best supportive care in advanced gastric cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 1997;**8**:163-8.

Scheithauer 1993 {published data only}

Scheithauer W, Rosen H, Kornek GV, Sebesta C, Depisch D. Randomised comparison of combination chemotherapy plus supportive care with supportive care alone in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *BMJ* 1993;**306**:752-5.

References to studies excluded from this review

Barni 1995 {published data only}

Barni S, Lissoni P, Cazzaniga M, Ardizzoia A, Meregalli S, Fossati V. A randomized study of low-dose subcutaneous interleukin-2 plus melatonin versus supportive care alone in metastatic colorectal cancer patients progressing under 5fluorouracil and folates. *Oncology* 1995;**52**(3):243-5.

Beretta 1994 {published data only}

Beretta G, Bollina R, Labianca R, Arnoldi E, Luliri P, Martignoni G. A controlled study of supportive care (SC) versus SC plus 5-fluorouracil/folinic acid (Ff) for advanced metastatic gastrointestinal carcinomas (AMGC) in the elderly patients (pts). Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1994; Vol. 13:A669.

Blijham 1998 {published data only}

Blijham G, Mesbah M, Glimelius B. Quality of life evaluation of CPT-11 compared to best supportive care or infusional 5-FU in patients with 5-FU resistant advanced colorectal cancer. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the American Society for Clinical Oncology. 1998; Vol. 17:A1592.

Cunningham 1999 {published data only}

Cunningham and Glimelius 1999 On behalf of the V301 Study Group. A phase III study of irinotecan (CPT-11) versus best supportive care in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer who have failed 5-fluorouracil therapy. *Seminars in Oncology* 1999;**26**((1 Suppl 5)):6-12.

Delfino 1993 {published data only}

Delfino C, Caccia G, Maniago O, Bosch B. Chemotherapy vs supportive care in patients (pts) with advanced colorectal carcinoma (ACC). Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the American Society for Clinical Oncology. 1993; Vol. 12:A630.

Glimelius 1994 {published data only}

Glimelius B, Hoffman K, Haglund U, Nyren O, Sjoden PO. Initial or delayed chemotherapy with best supportive care in advanced gastric cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 1994;**5**(2):189-90.

Glimelius 1995 {published data only}

Glimelius B, Hoffman K, Graf W, Haglund U, Nyren O, Pahlman L. Cost-effectiveness of palliative chemotherapy in advanced gastrointestinal cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 1995;**6**:267-74.

Petrioli 1995 {published data only}

Petrioli R, Lorenzi M, Aquino A, Marsili S, Frediani B, Palazzuoli V. Treatment of advanced colorectal cancer with high-dose intensity folinic acid and 5-fluorouracil plus supportive care. *European Journal of Cancer* 1995;**31A**(12):2105-8.

Pyrhonen 1995 {published data only}

Pyrhonen S Kuitunen T, Nyandoto P, Kour M. Randomised comparison of fluorouracil, epidoxorubicin and methotreaxate (FEMTX) plus supportive care with supportive care alone in patients with non-resectable gastric cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 1995;**71**:587-91.

Wilke 1999 {*published data only*}

Wilke HJ. Comparing irinotecan with best supportive care and infusional 5-fluorouracil: a critical evaluation of the results of two randomized phase III trials. *Seminars in Oncology* 1999;**26**((1 Suppl 5)):21-3.

Additional references

Aaronson 1993

Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai SH, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Duez NJ, Filiberti A, et al. The European organisation for research and treatment of cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1993;**85**:365-76.

Ahlgren 2001

Ahlgren JD. Gastrointestinal malignancies. *Primary Care* 2001;**28**(3):647-60 (vii).

Ahmedzai 2000

Ahmedzai SH, Walsh D. Palliative medicine and modern cancer care. *Seminars in Oncology* 2000;**27**(1):1-6.

Ahmedzai 2001

Ahmedzai SH, Lubbe A, Van den Eynden B. Towards a European standard for supportive care of cancer patients. A coordinated activity funded by DGV, final report for EC on behalf of the EORTC Pain and Symptom Control Task Force 2001:1-25.



Cullen 2001

Cullen M. 'Best supportive care' has had its day. *Lancet Oncology* 2001;**2**(3):173-5.

Department of Health

Department of Health 2001. National service framework for older people. London: HMSO, 2001.

Garratt 2002

Garratt A, Schmidt L, Mackintosh A, Fitzpatrick R. Quality of life measurement: Bibliographic study of patient assessed outcomes. *BMJ* 2002;**324**(1417):1-5.

Jadad 1996

Jadad AR, Moore RA, Carroll D, Jenkinson C, Reynolds DJM, Gavaghan DJ, McQuay HJ. Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary?. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1996;**17**:1-12.

Moher 2001

Moher D, Schulz F, Altman G for the CONSORT Group. The CONSORT statement: revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomised trials. *The Lancet* 2001;**357**:1191-4.

Osoba 1991

Osoba D. Effect of cancer on quality of life. Florida: CRC Press Inc, 1991.

Rapp 1988

Rapp E, Pater JL, Willan A, Cormier Y, Murray N, Evans WK, et al. Chemotherapy can prolong survival in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer - report of a Canadian multicenter randomised trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1988;**6**(4):633-41.

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Cascinu 1995

Methods	RCT: To assess the antitumour effect of octreotide vs. BSC in patients with advanced GI cancer refractory to chemotherapy
	Duration: Patients in both arms followed until death Jan 1990 to Dec 1992 (study recruitment period)
	Patients in both arms could receive supportive care.
	Journal: British Journal of Cancer 1995.
Participants	Participants: Advanced GI cancer patients refractory to chemotherapy
	Primary tumours were: stomach (n = 29) pancreas (n = 32) colon-rectum (n = 46)

Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer (Review) Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Rinck 1997

Rinck GC, Bos GAMvd, Kleijnen J, De Haes HJCJM, Schade E, Veenhof CHN. Methodologic issues in effectiveness research on palliative cancer care: a systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1997;**15**(4):1697-707.

Silverberg 1990

Silverberg E, Boring CC, Squires TS. Cancer statistics, 1990. *CA - A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* 1990;**40**(1):9-26.

Staquet 1998

Staquet MJ, Hays RD, Fayers PM. Quality of Life Assessment in Clinical Trials. Methods and Practice. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1998.

WHO 1998

Report of the Director General. Health across the life span. Life in the 21st Century. A vision for all. Vol. **Chapter 3**, Geneva: World Health Organisation, 1998:88-90.

Wright 2004

Michael Wright. Hospice care and models of spirituality. *European Journal of Palliative Care* 2004;**11**(2):75-8.

References to other published versions of this review

Ahmed 2004

Ahmed N, Ahmedzai S, Vora V, Hillam S, Paz S. Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 3, Issue 2004. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003445.pub2]

Ahmed 2006

Ahmed N, Ahmedzai S, Vora V, Hillam S, Paz S. Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 4, Issue 2006. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003445.pub2]

Cascinu 1995 (Continued)	Median Age (years and Octreotide: 68 (39 to 71 Controls (BSC): 66 (44 t	range): .) o 72)
	Gender: Male/Female ratio Octreotide: 35/20 Controls (BSC): 30/22.	
	Performance Status: ECOG PS 0-2.	
Interventions	Total n = 107	
	T1: Octreotide (n = 55) stomach (15), pancreas (24) versus	(200 micrograms three times/day for five days a week (primary tumours were 5 (16) and colon-rectum
	T2: Controls (BSC) (n =	52) (primary tumours were stomach (14), pancreas (16) and colon-rectum (22)
Outcomes	Survival length (primar rate. Duration of surviv T1: 20 weeks versus T2: data for each tumour g	y outcome variable). Outcome variable of secondary importance was response al : T1: Significant advantage in duration of survival, median survival time : 11 weeks (P < 0.0001) This advantage was also present considering the survival roup
	Subgroup analysis: Sto (n = 15) or not (n = 14). 0.003	mach: survival curves comparing patients with stomach cancer treated with T1 There was a statistical difference between 2 curves: Mantel-Cox (log-rank), P =
	Colon rectum Survival curves compa was a statistical differe	ring patients with colorectal cancer treated with T1 (n = 24) or not (n = 22). There nce between the two arms. Mantel-Cox (log-rank), P = 0.001.
	This trial had no specifi	c quality of life data.
Notes	Authors conclusions: O tients refractory to che ies will be needed to co octreotide and the imp of life	ctreotide therapy: seems to confer a survival benefit in advanced GI cancer pa- motherapy. Although results are encouraging authors think that additional stud- onfirm these results and to clarify other questions about dose and schedule of act of octreotide treatment in terms of not only survival but also patients quality
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment?	Low risk	A - Adequate

RCT: To compare irinotecan with supportive care alone for survival, QoL and other clinical variables in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer in whom fluorouracil had failed
Duration: Patients followed until death or for at least one year, beyond one year only date of death was traced. Median follow-up 13 months Patients in both arms received SC
Journal: The Lancet 1998



Cunningham 1998 (Continued)		
Participants	Participants: metastati ment with fluorouracil	c colorectal cancer patients which had progressed within six months of treat-
	Median Age (years and Irinotecan + SC: 59 (22- SC alone: 62 (34-75)	range): 75)
	Gender: Male/Female ratio Irinotecan + SC: 129/60 SC alone: 52/38.	
	Performance status: WHO PS 0-2.	
Interventions	Total N = 279	
	T1: Irinotecan + SC (n = sus T2: Supportive care alo Ratio: 2:1	189) 300 to 350mg/m2 irinotecan every three weeks with supportive care ver-
Outcomes	Overall survival (prima status, bodyweight, tur T1: Overall survival was vival 9.2 months) versu greater in T1. The survi significant (P = 0.001). weight loss of more tha Comparison of quality sus T2 41 P < 0.001. Rol versus T2 47 P = 0.006 S Dyspnoea T1 30 versus sus T2 40 P = 0.004 Diar nificantly longer in T1,	ry endpoint). Secondary objectives were impact of treatment on performance mour-related symptoms and QOL. s significantly better (P = 0.0001), with 1 year survival: T1: 36.2% (median sur- is T2: 13.8% (median survival 6.5 months). The probability of survival 2.6 times val benefit, adjusted for prognostic factors in a multivariate analysis, remained T1: Survival without performance status deterioration (P = 0.0001), without an 5% (P = 0.018) and pain-free survival (P = 0.003) were significantly better. of life data gave the following differences for functional scale physical T1 62 ver- e T1 54 versus T2 36 P = 0.002 Cognitive T1 78 versus T2 68 P = 0.006 Social T1 59 Symptoms Fatigue T1 51 versus T2 61 P = 0.006 Pain T1 40 versus T2 53 P = 0.001 T2 39 P = 0.03 Appetite loss T1 36 versus T2 55 P < 0.001 Constipation T1 27 ver- rrhoea T1 32 versus T2 18 P < 0.001 Time to definitive QoL deterioration was sig- whichever the chosen threshold for deterioration (all P values < 0.002)
Notes	Authors conclusions: Despite the side effects fluorouracil has failed, treated with irinotecan second line therapy in	s of treatment, patients who have metastatic colorectal cancer, and for whom have a longer survival, fewer tumour-related symptoms, and better QoL when than with SC alone. Irinotecan can therefore be recommended as the standard colorectal cancer and as a new reference for forthcoming trials
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment?	Unclear risk	D - Not used

Glimelius 1997

MethodsRCT: To estimate any gain in quantity and QoL produced by chemotherapy in advanced gastric cancer
patientsDuration: The study was performed in two phases-a pilot phase between January 1991 and May 1992 at
one hospital followed by a multicentre phase between June 1992 and Feb 1995Patients in both arms received SC



Glimelius 1997 (Continued)		
	Journal: Annals of Onco	ology 1997
Participants	Participants: advanced	gastric cancer (surgically non-curable)
	Median Age (years and Chemotherapy group + BSC group: 63 (40 to 74	range): · BSC: 64 (45 to 75))
	Gender: Male/Female ratio Chemotherapy group: 2 BSC group: 22/8. Performance status: KPS < 50.	23/8
Interventions	Total N = 61	
	T1: Chemotherapy (n = m2) and etoposide (120 or in older patients with m2) (FLv) was given on versus	31) (ELF regimen, consisting of 5-fluorouracil (500 mg/2) leucovorin (350 mg/ 0 mg/m2), given daily on three consecutive days and repeated every third week), h poor performance, a 5-fluorouracil (500 mg/m2)/leucovorin regimen (60 mg/ 2 consecutive days every second week + BSC
	T2: BSC (n = 30) (chemo	otherapy was allowed if supportive measures did not result in palliation)
Outcomes	Overall survival, chang	es in QOL, objective responses, toxicity
	T1: Overall survival was icant (P = 0.12) After co ment was, however ass T1: More patients (45% months versus T2: (20% tion of whether the pat (17/31 55% versus 6/30 ations (1, 2) after two a groups. Pain T1 at (R) 3 22b, at (1) 18 at (2) 14 T b refers to a statistically	s longer (median eight versus T2: five months) difference not statistically signif- rrections for imbalances in pretreatment characteristics, chemotherapy treat- sociated with a survival benefit (P = 0.003) 14/31) had an improved or prolonged high QoL for a minimum period of four 6 6/30 P < 0.05). A similar difference was seen in the treating physician's evalua- ient was subjectively improved or continued to do well for at least four months 9, 20%, P < 0.01). Quality of life at randomisation (R) and after the first two evalu- nd four months respectively, in the chemotherapy and the best supportive care 3b, at (1) 24 at (2) 23 T2 at (R) 18, at (1) 18 at (2) 18 Nausea/vomiting T1 at (R) 2 at (R) 9, at (1) 32 at (2) 13 y significant difference (P < 0.05) between T1 and T2 groups respectively
Notes	Authors conclusions: Chemotherapy can adc tients who benefit from tine use of this treatme ed patients after realist	I to both the quantity and QoL in advanced gastric cancer. The number of pa- n treatment is, however still rather limited. The authors do not advocate the rou- ent in the light of yet limited effects and the costs, but rather consider it to select- cic and adequate information
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment?	Unclear risk	D - Not used

Scheithauer 1993 Methods RCT: To compare the length of survival and QoL in previously untreated patients with histologically confirmed, measurable colorectal cancer that was recurrent/metastatic Duration: between April 1988 and September 1989 40 patients accrued to the study Patients in both arms received SC



Scheithauer 1993 (Continued)	Journal: Britich Modica	Lournal 1993			
	Journal. British Medica				
Participants	Participants: 40 previously untreated patients with histologically confirmed, measurable cancer (inoperable adenocarcinoma of the colon/rectum) that was locally recurrent or m expectancy over two months				
	Median Age (years and combination chemothe No chemotherapy (BSC All patients: 66 (28 to 7	range): erapy group + SC: 63 (28 to 75) 2) group: 69 (45 to 75). 5)			
	Gender: Male/Female r Combination chemoth No chemotherapy (BSC All patients 17/19	atio erapy group: 10/14 2) group: 7/5			
	Performance status: ECOG PS of less than or	r equal to 3.			
Interventions	Total N = 36				
	T1: Combination chem consisted of four week m2/day) and cisplatin (versus T2: No Chemotherapy (otherapy (5-fluorouracil, leucovorin and cisplatin) + SC (n = 24). Chemotherapy cycles of intravenous leucovorin (200 mg/m2/day) followed by 5-FU (550 mg/ (20 mg/m2/day), each drug being given on the first four days of the cycle. (SC) (n = 12)			
	All patients (n = 36).				
Outcomes	Length of survival and	QOL score with an optimized functional living index-cancer scale (FLIC)			
	T1: Overall survival was T2: 5.0 months; (P = 0.0 groups in global/subgr better in the chemothe ment group. Overall res (months) T1 7 (4 to 18)	s significantly longer T1: 11.0 months versus 106). QoL: T1 versus T2: There was no significant difference between the two oup QoL scores. In patients with abnormal scores before treatment, QoL seemed erapy arm. Quality of life in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer by treat- sponse rate: T1 12/18 (67%) T2 5/8 (62%). Median (range) duration of response T2 6 (4 to 9).			
Notes	Authors conclusions: Chemotherapy regimen py with 5-FU, leucovori tal cancer and prolong sults, they support pre	n was an effective form of palliative treatment. Data indicate that chemothera- n, and cisplatin improves QoL in symptomatic patients with metastatic colorec- s survival, although the small numbers of patients reduces the strength of the re- vious indirect evidence of a beneficial effect of chemotherapy in this disease			
Risk of bias					
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement			
Allocation concealment?	Unclear risk	D - Not used			
GI: Gastrointestinal BSC: Best supportive care SC: Supportive Care					

SC: Supportive Care ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group KPS: Karnofsky Performance Status WHOI: World Health Organisation PS - Performance status QoL - Quality of life RCT: Randomised Controlled Trial 5-FU: 5 Fluorouracil



Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Barni 1995	RCT but didn't have crucial outcomes mentioned
Beretta 1994	Meeting abstract only-authors contacted
Blijham 1998	Meeting abstract only-authors contacted
Cunningham 1999	RCT however was a double publication- no supportive care definition Included Cunningham 1998 (RCT) in Cochrane review
Delfino 1993	Meeting abstract only - authors contacted
Glimelius 1994	Letter to editor
Glimelius 1995	Cost study (RCT) no good QoL measure
Petrioli 1995	Short communication. No 'Best Supportive Care' arm
Pyrhonen 1995	RCT but no suitable outcome markers
Wilke 1999	Review based on two RCTs

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Jadad Scores - methodological quality

Author	Cascinu 1995	Cunning- ham 1998	Glimelius 1997	Schei- thauer 1993
Quality assessment				
Described as randomised? Y / N	1	1	1	1
Described as double blind? Y/ N	0	0	0	0
Withdrawals and dropouts described Y/N	1	1	1	1
Appropriate randomisation method? Y / N	1	1	0	1
Appropriate method of blinding?	0	0	0	0
TOTAL SCORE	3	3	2	3

Table 2. Rinck Scores: methodological quality

Author	Cascinu 1995	Cunningham 1998	Glimelius 1997	Scheithauer 1993	
Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer (Rev Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by Johr	iew) 1 Wiley & Sons, Ltd.				17

Table 2. Rinck Scores: methodological quality (Continued)

Accrual	1	1	1	0.5
Homegeity	1	1	1	1
Randomisation	1	0.5	0.5	1
Attrition	0.5	0.5	0.5	0
Intervention	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Outcome Assessment	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Results	1	1	1	1
Total Score	5.5	5.0	5.0	4.5

Table 3. Definition of supportive care

Author	Definition
Cascinu 1995	Patients in both arms could receive supportive care such as haemotransfusions for anaemic state; antibiotics to control infections; analgesics, including non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and opioids; corticosteroids; and vitamin supplements. Also patients could be treated with radiation therapy for painful osseous metastases and pelvic recurrences. In case of jaundice due to an ob- struction of biliary tree a percutaneous transhepatic biliary drainage could be placed.
Cunningham 1998	In supportive care alone group, patients were given best supportive care and were seen every three weeks. Supportive care was defined as the best care available judged by attending physician, according to institutional standards for each centre. Supportive care included antibiotics, analgesics, transfusions, corticosteroids, or any other symptomatic therapy (except irinotecan or other topoisomerase I inhibitor), and/or assistance of a psychotherapist. Localised radiation therapy to alleviate symptoms such as pain was allowed provided that total dose delivered was in palliative range according to institutional standards. In irinotecan group patients were given best supportive care and irinotecan. Analysis of best supportive care Supportive care and concomitant medications were reported at each visit (every three weeks in both groups). They were classified using the WHO dictionary, and further sub-classification was done using the WHO code for anatomical therapeutic class (ATC). With these classifications, analgesics were divided into opioids or non-opioids and analysed in three week blocks.
Glimelius 1997	The principles of best supportive care, given in both randomization groups have been presented before. Best supportive care was given in both groups with the same high intensity and included psy- chosocial support and attempts to relieve any symptoms (analgesics, antiemetic drugs, nutrition- al support, corticosteroids, palliative radiotherapy, surgery and so on). These principles have been outlined in a regional care programme.
Scheithauer 1993	Supportive care consisted of analgesics, nutritional support, blood transfusions to correct severe anaemia, and psychological support. Patients were randomly allocated to receive supportive care and chemotherapy (arm A) or supportive care only (arm B).

Table 4. Table of reported characteristics

Characteristics	Cascinu 95	Cunningham 98	Glimelius 97	Scheithauer 93
Country/Location of first author	Italy	UK	Sweden	Austria
Baseline characteristics	Reported	Reported	Reported	Reported
Inclusion criteria	Reported	Reported	Reported	Reported
Exclusion criteria	Not reported	Reported	Reported	Not reported
Ethics committee ap- proval stated	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Adverse effects/side ef- fects	Reported	Reported	Reported	Reported
Description of with- drawals and dropouts	Reported	Reported	Reported	Reported
Power calculation	Reported	Reported	Not reported	Not reported
Validation of instru- ments	Not included a QOL assess- ment in this tri- al.	QOLwas assessed with EORTC QLQ-C30 questionnaire (includ- ing five function scales, one global health status scale, and nine symptom scales), which was filled in at baseline, 3 and 6 weeks and then every 6 weeks.	QOL assessments were performed using EORTC-QLQ C30 version 1.0.	QOL was assessed at entry and every 2 months with the Functional Living Index for Cancer (FLIC-authors used several refinements to FLIC scale).
Analysis	Analysis was performed ac- cording to in- tention to treat	Analysis was performed accord- ing to intention to treat	Analysis was per- formed accord- ing to intention to treat	Analysis was performed ac- cording to intention to treat

Table 5. Other outcomes assessed

Author	Cascinu 1995	Cunningham 1998	Glimelius 1997	Scheithauer 1993
Symptom control	Every two weeks patients of both arms were looked after in the same setting by the same physician and nursing staff in order to record both side effects of treatment with octreotide and possible complica- tions related to neoplas- tic disease. No further sub group analysis	Localised radiation therapy to alleviate symptoms such as pain was allowed pro- vided that the total dose delivered was in the pallia- tive range according to in- stitutional standards	T1: Treating physician con- sidered 17 (55%) patients to have had either a pro- longed symptom-free peri- od or improved symptoma- tology in the absence of se- vere toxicity. T2: 6(20%, P < 0.01)	Chemotherapy Group: 2 pa- tients had to have the dose reduced by 25% because of grade 3 haematological and gastrointestinal side effects
Pain severity and pain relief	No sub group analysis. On- ly five patients suffered from pain at injection sites, but it did not deter- mine the refusal of treat-	T1: Pain free survival in pa- tients without pain was sig- nificantly longer versus T2: (P = 0.003), despite a high- er proportion of patients	T1 versus T2: The aver- age scores on most scale items and global health status did not differ be- tween two groups at ran-	Not reported

Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer (Review)

Copyright @ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

	ment or reduce their com- pliance in taking the drug octreotide	on opioids in the support- ive care group. Worst score during study for EORTC QLQ C30 pain scale mean (SE) 39.98 (2.39) versus 53.42 (3.27), P = 0.001	domistaion although there were more problems with pain and nausea/vomiting in chemotherapy group	
Any re- ported ad- verse ef- fects	No sub group analysis. T1: No severe toxicity record- ed requiring discontinua- tion of octreotide. 20 pa- tients had asymptomatic hyperglycaemia, ten pa- tients mild steatorrhoea, three patients had abdom- inal cramps-disappeared spontaneously after few days of continued therapy	T1: Significantly more pa- tients experienced severe events, especially neu- tropenia, nausea, vomit- ing and diarrhoea. T2: High incidence of severe ad- verse events (drug related or not), especially pain and asthenia. T1: 2(1.1%) of 183 patients died of drug-re- lated causes although in one, the association with adverse events (diarrhoea and/or febrile neutropenia) has not been clearly estab- lished	FLv treatment: toxicity was low. ELF treatment: toxicity was higher with grade 3/4 toxicities (except alopecia in five (22%) patients.ELF treated patients: had more or less total alopecia. No toxic deaths reported. One patient alive in each group at end of follow-up	T1: Toxicity was common, symptoms were generally mild-moderate. No patient stopped chemotherapy due to side effects. T2: mild nau- sea, diarrhoea, and infec- tion were indicated by 2, 3, and 1 patient respective- ly. No other toxicities were recorded
Hospitali- sation due to adverse effects	No patients in either arm developed infections re- quiring hospitalisation	T1: Admission for adverse events occurred in T1: 136 (72%) of patients (cumula- tive median: 15 days, range one to 168 days) versus T2: 57 (63%) of patients (cu- mulative median 11 days, range two to 87 days)	Not Reported	Not Reported
With- drawals and dropouts	T1: four gastric cancer pa- tients received octreotide for only six weeks, due to severe impairment of gen- eral conditions owing to rapid disease progression and died only after two weeks.	T1: n = 189 (six did not re- ceive study medication, five lost to follow up, 123 died, 61 alive). T2: n = 90 (five patients lost to fol- low-up, 71 died, 14 alive)	Two patients in each group did not complete the ques- tionnaire at randomisation due to rapidly progress- ing disease. Number of pa- tients replying to question- naire declined during fol- low-up, decline was more rapid in T2 (reasons for not replying to a questionnaire after two and four months were usually either death or that patient was termi- nally ill). After first inter- view, one patient in T2 re- fused further interviews	Forty patients were accrued to study. Two patients in each treatment arm refused to accept the treatment assigned or participate in the study, or both (thus 36 patients were eligible for analysis of response and toxicity. Thirty three of 36 patients in study had died at the end of study period. T1: 21 (87%) versus T2 : 12. The minimum follow-up of survivors was 28 months
Disease progres- sion	Stable Disease: T1: 25 (sev- en stomach, seven pan- creas, 11 colon-rectum) (45%) patients showed stable disease versus only T2: eight (three stomach, two pancreas, three colon rectum) (15%), (P < 0.001)	Patients had proven metastatic colorectal can- cer which had progressed within six months of treat- ment with 5FU. No further information on disease progression during or after the trial	T1: The median time to dis- ease progression was six (zero to20+) months versus T2: 2 (zero to 14) months (P < 0.01). The median time to objective disease progres- sion (or deaths in patients not objectively evaluat- ed was T1:six (zero to20+)	T1: Of 24 patients ran- domised eight partially re- sponded, the median dura- tion of response was T1:35 (16 to 56) weeks. Nine pa- tients (38%) had stable dis- ease, seven (29%) had pro- gressive disease versus T2: three (25%) of 12 patients were classified as having



Table 5. Other outcomes assessed (Continued)

months vs. T2: two (zero to 13) months (P = 0.03) stable disease, nine (75%) as having progressive disease. Median time to progression: T1: 6.0 (12 to 14) months, versus T2: 2.3 (1.5 to 8.0) months, statistically significant difference (P = 0.0008)

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. MEDLINE search strategy

1. ((best adj3 support\$) or (optim\$ adj3 support\$) or (support\$ adj3 care\$) or (support\$ adj3 caring) or (supportive adj3 treatment\$)).mp. [mp=title, subject heading word, abstract, instrumentation]

2. exp Gastrointestinal Neoplasms/

3. exp Pancreatic Neoplasms/

4. ((gastrointestinal or gastro-intestinal or esophageal or oesophageal or pancrea\$ or gastric or stomach or intestin\$ or cecal or appendiceal or colorectal or colonic or sigmoid or rectal or anus or "anal gland") and (neoplasm\$ or cancer\$ or tumor\$ or tumour\$ or carcinoma\$ or malignan\$ or metastas\$)).mp. [mp=title, subject heading word, abstract, instrumentation]

The following filter was used to identify RCTs in Medline 1966 to July 2006

1. ((best or optim\$) adj2 support\$ adj2 (care or treatment\$)).tw.

- 2. supportive care.tw.
- 3. or/1-2

4. exp gastrointestinal neoplasms/

5. pancreatic neoplasms/

6. ((gastrointestin\$ or gastro-intestin\$ or gastric or colon\$ or colorect\$ or pancreas\$) adj3 (neoplasm\$ or cancer\$ or tumour\$ or tumor\$

- or carcinoma\$ or metastas\$)).tw.
- 7. or/4-6
- 8.3 and 7
- 9. randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 10. controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 11. randomized controlled trials/
- 12. random allocation/
- 13. double blind method/
- 14. single blind method/

15. or/9-14

- 16. clinical trial.pt.
- 17. exp clinical trials/
- 18. (clin\$ adj25 trial\$).ti,ab.
- 19. ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or trebl\$ or tripl\$) adj25 (blind\$ or mask\$)).ti,ab.
- 20. placebos/
- 21. placebos.ti,ab.
- 22. random.ti,ab
- 23. research design/
- 24. or/16-23
- 25. comparative study/
- 26. exp evaluation studies/
- 27. follow up studies/
- 28. (control\$ or prospectiv\$ or volunteer\$).ti,ab.
- 29. prospective studies/
- 30. or/25-29
- 31. 15 or 24 or 30
- 32.8 and 31
- 33. from 32 keep 1-81



Appendix 2. Additional search strategies

Database searched	Search strategy
The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews	#1 ((best in All Text near/3 support* in All Text) or (optim* in All Text near/3 support* in All Text) or (support* in All Text near/3 care* in All Text) or (support* in All Text near/3 caring in All Text)) #2 MeSH descriptor GASTROINTESTINAL NEOPLASMS explode all trees #3 ((gastrointestinal in All Text or gastro-intestinal in All Text or (esophageal in All Text and oesophageal in All Text) or pancrea* in All Text or gastric in All text or stomach in All Text or intestin* in All Text or cecal in All Text or ap- pendiceal in All Text or colorectal in All Text or colonic in All Text or sigmoid in All Text or rectal in All Text or anus in All Text or "anal gland" in All Text) and (neoplasm* in All Text or cancer* in All Text or tumor* in All Text or tumour* in All Text or carcinoma* in All Text or metas- tas* in All Text)) #4 MeSH descriptor PANCREATIC NEOPLASMS explode all trees #5 (#2 or #3 or #4) #6 (#1 and #5)
Cochrane Sensitive Search strategy for RCTs	 randomized controlled trial.pt. controlled clinical trial.pt. randomized controlled trials.sh. random allocation.sh. double blind method.sh. single blind method.sh. or/1-6 (ANIMALS not HUMAN).sh. 7 not 8 clinical trial.pt. exp clinical trials/ (clin\$ adj25 trial\$).ti,ab. (lisingl\$ or doubl\$ or trebl\$ or tripl\$) adj25 (blind\$ or mask\$)).ti,ab. placebos.sh. placebos.ti,ab. random\$ti,ab. research design.sh. or/10-17 18 not 8 19 or 19
EMBASE via Ovid	 ((best adj3 support\$) or (optim\$ adj3 support\$) or (support\$ adj3 care\$) or (support\$ adj3 caring) or (supportive adj3 treatment\$)).mp. [mp=title, subject heading word, abstract, instrumentation] Gastrointestinal Tumor/ or Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumor/ exp Pancreas Tumor/ ((gastrointestinal or gastro-intestinal or esophageal or oesophageal or pancrea\$ or gastric or stomach or intestin\$ or cecal or appendiceal or colorectal or colonic or sigmoid or rectal or anus or "anal gland") and (neoplasm\$ or cancer\$ or tumor\$ or tumour\$ or carcinoma\$ or malignan\$ or metastas\$)).mp. [mp=title, subject heading word, abstract, instrumentation] or/2-4 1 and 5
The above subject search was linked to the following Filter for EMBASE via OVID	 random\$.ti,ab. factorial\$.ti,ab. (crossover\$ or cross over\$ or cross-over\$).ti,ab. placebo\$.ti,ab. (doubl\$ adj blind\$).ti,ab. (singl\$ adj blind\$).ti,ab. (singl\$ adj blind\$).ti,ab. assign\$.ti,ab. allocat\$.ti,ab. volunteer\$.ti,ab. CROSSOVER PROCEDURE.sh. DOUBLE-BLIND PROCEDURE.sh.

Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer (Review)

Copyright @ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continued)	12. RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL.sh. 13. SINGLE BLIND PROCEDURE.sh. 14. or/1-13 15. ANIMAL/ or NONHUMAN/ or ANIMAL EXPERIMENT/ 16. HUMAN/ 17. 16 and 15 18. 15 not 17 19. 14 not 18
CINAHL Search Strategy (As MEDLINE)	 Random Assignment/ single-blind studies/ Double-Blind Studies/ Triple-Blind Studies/ Crossover Design/ Factorial Design/ (multicentre study or multicenter study or multi-centre study or multi-center study).mp. [mp=ti-tle, cinahl subject headings, abstract, instrumentation] random\$.ti,ab. latin square.ti,ab. cross-over.mp. or crossover.ti,ab. [mp=title, cinahl subject headings, abstract, instrumentation] rlatin square.ti,ab. (singl\$ or doubl\$ or trebl\$ or tripl\$) adj25 (blind\$ or mask\$)).ti,ab. placebos/ (linical Trials/ (clin\$ adj25 trial\$).mp. [mp=title, cinahl subject headings, abstract, instrumentation] or/1-15
PsycINFO Search Strategy	 ((best adj3 support\$) or (optim\$ adj3 support\$) or (support\$ adj3 care\$) or (support\$ adj3 caring) or (supportive adj3 treatment\$)).mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, table of contents, key concepts] ((gastrointestinal or gastro-intestinal or esophageal or oesophageal or pancrea\$ or stomach or intestin\$ or cecal or appendiceal or colorectal or colonic or sigmoid or rectal or anus or "anal gland") and (neoplasm\$ or cancer\$ or tumor\$ or tumour\$ or carcinoma\$ or malignan\$ or metastas\$)).mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, table of contents, key concepts] 1 and 2

WHAT'S NEW

Date	Event	Description
7 October 2009	New search has been performed	This is an update. The search was re-run in July 2009 and no fur- ther studies were added to the most recent publication of this re- view, therefore the conclusions remain the same.
7 October 2009	Review declared as stable	This review no longer requires an update as evidence is unlike- ly to become available. In the event that new evidence does be- come available the review will be updated again.

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 1, 2002 Review first published: Issue 3, 2004



Date	Event	Description
29 July 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.
1 July 2006	New search has been performed	This is an update of the original review published in 2004. No new studies were included or excluded for this version updated for Issue 4, 2006 and the conclusions remain the same.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Tasks and responsibilities were shared amongst the systematic review team for the first version of the review. For both of the updates Nisar Ahmed checked for any new studies, none of which were identified.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known. The involvement of the Advisory Group should serve to limit any potential conflict of interest during the review process.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• The University of Sheffield, UK.

External sources

• No sources of support supplied

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Palliative Care; Gastrointestinal Neoplasms [drug therapy] [*therapy]; Quality of Life; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic

MeSH check words

Humans